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CHAPTER 1: PROJECT OVERVIEW

Background and Purpose

In 2005 the Town of Wethersfield was named a Preserve America community and the
following year Town officials, in collaboration with local stakeholders from within the
Old Wethersfield Historic District, applied for and received a grant from the National
Park Service to complete a Master Plan. In applying for the grant, the Town made a
clear statement that they recognized the importance of the historic integrity, cultural
significance, and character of the community. The planning process seeks to form a
bridge between the past and the future; the end result will be a Master Plan that meets
the needs and goals of business owners, property owners, residents, and historic sites.

The Preserve America program is a federal initiative that encourages and supports
community efforts to preserve and enhance the natural and cultural heritage of unique
communities across the country. One component of the program is the designation of
Preserve America communities, of which Wethersfield is one. This program recognizes
communities that celebrate their heritage, use their historic assets to achieve economic
development goals, and encourage people to appreciate their historic resources.

There are benefits to being designated as a Preserve America community. As a
Preserve America community Wethersfield is eligible for Preserve America grants; can
receive a Preserve America road sign; is authorized to use the Preserve America logo;
and is listed in a web-based Preserve America directory. Preserve America grants are
the most significant benefit of being designated a Preserve America community. Grants
are available two times a year to fund efforts aimed at sustaining historic and cultural
sites within Preserve America communities and developing economic and educational
opportunities associated with heritage tourism. The program funds the development of
management strategies and other planning tools aimed at identifying best practices for
the continued preservation of heritage assets.

View of Old Wethersfield
Main Street with historic
buildings

The purpose of the Old Wethersfield Master Plan is three-fold: 1) protect the existing
quality of life for district residents and preserve the character of the community, 2)
identify opportunities to increase usage and viability of existing historic sites and
museums and encourage heritage tourism, and 3) identify opportunities for creating a
successful business atmosphere which are based on the economic realities of the local
market. The desired end result is a comprehensive plan that looks at both physical and
economic aspects of the community.
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The preservation of community character and heritage is an increasingly important
topic to consider as suburbanization, uncontrolled growth, and widespread
development continues to creep into historically significant communities and
neighborhoods. While preservation has historically been viewed as simply a means to
restore an old building, it should be viewed as one component of a broader economic
development strategy.

The Master Plan looks at existing conditions to provide a “snapshot” in time of who
and what the Old Wethersfield Historic District is today. The existing conditions lay
the framework for identifying the opportunities and potentials for the historic district,
ultimately contributing to the development of a series of recommendations, and most
importantly, a strategy for implementing the recommendations.

Local organizations, including the Wethersfield Historical Society, the Webb-Deane-
Stevens Museum, the Historic District Commission, the Village Improvement
Association, the Old Wethersfield Shopkeepers Association, and the Tourism
Commission, have joined with residents to assist in defining the vision and direction for
the Master Plan. Community outreach was a critical component of the planning process
and ensured that all interested stakeholders and residents had the opportunity to identify
their specific goals and issues associated with the master planning process. The
community outreach program included steering committee meetings, one-on-one
meetings with identified project stakeholders, three focus group sessions, and four
community workshops that were open to all interested parties.

The master planning project began on January 10" 2007 with a meeting of the Steering
Committee for the project. Interested members of the public attended the meeting as
well and provided their input. At the meeting, JMA received background information
from the Steering Committee on issues and interests of residents, attractions, and
businesses within the Historic District.

Over the early spring, JMA reviewed background materials related to the project
provided by the Town and the various partners within the Historic District. JMA also
undertook field work, reviewing and photographing existing conditions on a range of
issues to be addressed by the master plan. On March 21% and 22", a series of three
focus group meetings were held with (1) residents from the Cove Park area, (2)
representatives from historic sites and attractions, and (3) business owners. A public
meeting was held on March 21% to present the project to residents and receive input on
issues of concern to them.

Because of limited attendance at the first public meeting, a second public meeting was
held on May 4th. At the second public meeting, JMA reintroduced the project and
planning process and reviewed the work that had been completed to date. Attendees
voiced their interests and concerns over a wide range of issues related to the Historic
District.

In early June, JMA submitted initial chapters of the master plan to the Steering
Committee, including primarily an overview of the historical development of Old
Wethersfield. On June 20" and 21%, JMA met with the Steering Committee to present
the team’s findings with respect to existing conditions and issues and to discuss initial
ideas for approach and recommendations. Information on the three comparable
communities was presented based upon research that was conducted in the spring. A
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third public meeting was held at which the same information was presented, initial
recommendations were reviewed, and input received. The Steering Committee
provided JMA with comments on the historical overview.

Over the summer, JMA prepared existing condition chapters of the master plan. These
chapters included a market study of the Historic District and were presented to the
Steering Committee on September 19™ along with a powerpoint presentation on JMA’s
recommendations for the master plan, further developing the initial recommendations
that had been discussed with the Steering Committee and public in June. On
November 1%, JMA received comments on the existing conditions chapters and
recommendations from the Steering Committee. In November, JMA revised the
existing conditions chapters, and in December, JMA prepared a draft of the
recommendations chapter of the plan. A draft of the master plan was presented to the
Town in January, 2008.

Past Plans and Studies

The development of the Old Wethersfield Master Plan is not the first planning
document to look at the Town, and specifically at the Old Wethersfield Historic
District. Over the past eighty years, numerous documents have been prepared for the
Town and the district that looked at land use, economic development, tourism,
marketing, and other physical and economic elements associated with the community.

This master plan is intended to be the culmination of previous efforts into a
comprehensive document that provides a clear and realistic vision for the Old
Wethersfield community which will allow it to flourish and adapt in a manner that
residents, business owners, historic property owners, and officials are comfortable with.
Previous planning efforts provide a sound framework from which to begin considering
how the Old Wethersfield Historic District can successfully evolve from today forward.

The following section summarizes some of the relevant planning documents that have
previously been completed for the Town and Old Wethersfield. These documents were
reviewed and considered during the development of recommendations and strategies
associated with this master plan. Each document is briefly described with any
significant recommendations pertinent to this study identified.

In addition to the documents listed below, other past planning studies were reviewed
for additional insights regarding specific topics of importance to residents, business
owners, and historic sites in the district. These include market studies for various
historic sites, business surveys, parking studies, long-term plans, and historical maps
and images.

Plan of a Residence Suburb (1928)

In 1928 Herbert Swan developed a plan for Wethersfield which speculated the Town
would grow from its 7,000 residents in 1927 to 24,000 in 1950. The plan is divided into
the following sections: Thoroughfares; Parkways; Land Subdivisions; Parks; Schools
and Playgrounds; and the Amenities of a Residence Suburb. The focus of the final
section stresses the importance of Wethersfield’s architecture and historic building
stock, as well as landscaping and how the treatment of the site should be considered in
addition to looking at just the buildings themselves.
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Master Plan Report (1946)

In 1946 the Town of Wethersfield commissioned a study to estimate the probable
growth of the Town through 1960 and to suggest possible scenarios associated with the
potential increase in residents. The Master Plan Report focused on the Town as a
whole, with no specific concentration on Old Wethersfield. The plan looked at the
physical characteristics of the Town, the people of Wethersfield, economic aspects,
social institutions, and government. The master plan proposal does consider Old
Wethersfield for a new town centre, but ultimately proposes an alternative location.
Various aspects of the plan have remained true, such as Wethersfield remaining a
primary residential suburb of Hartford.

Report on Planning (1960)

The 1960 Plan was prepared to consider the best plan for future development of the
Town, considering objectives, as opposed to detailed construction projects. Key
elements of the plan included a review and analysis of Wethersfield Meadows,
Business, Industry, Residential Neighborhoods, Schools, and Parks. Two of the key
elements are directly related to Old Wethersfield — the State Prison Property and
Historic Zoning. The plan identified the prison site as the possible new site of the
Motor Vehicles Department, which it did become. With respect to Historic Zoning, this
plan recommends a detailed study to conserve the character of Old Wethersfield (or
“Old Town” as it was referred) with an emphasis on the relationships and compatibility
of buildings.

Historic District Commission — Chapter 10 Article XVIII Town Code (1962)

The Historic District and Historic District Commission were established through the
adoption of Chapter 10, Article XVIII within the Town Code. The intent of this Article
was to promote the educational, cultural, economic, and general welfare of the Town
through preservation and protection of buildings, places, and districts of historic
interest within the Town; and to preserve and protect the many architectural phases
associated with the community. The Article defines the boundaries of the Historic
District and describes the role of the Historic District Commission.

Plan of Preservation and Protection for the Historic District (1978)

The 1978 plan was developed by a team of architects that worked in tandem with
members of the Historic District Commission to assist property owners and lay-out
information about the Commission and the District in a manner that was easy to
understand for residents. The document discusses the role and scope of the
Commission; a rating system for buildings and spaces; design guideline for
rehabilitation, new construction, and restoration broken into several sub-categories with
images; definitions; and closes with an overarching approach to the philosophy of the
district.

Recommendations within the plan for capital improvements are similar to those being
considered today, almost thirty years later — a comprehensive signage program to
replace the diverse signage which is present; a pedestrian network in a material such as
brick; new street lighting that is compatible within the district; and off-street parking.
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Parking Study of Old Wethersfield (1988)

During a seven month period between 1987 and 1988 a study took place which
included an inventory and assessment of parking in the Village center of Old
Wethersfield. The study was undertaken in response to requests by local shopkeepers
and business owners. The study identified that the perceived parking shortage was not
actually occurring; visitors and business users just needed to be willing to walk a few
hundred feet to get to their destination, as opposed to only being willing to park at the
front door of their destination.

Plan of Conservation and Development (2000)

The Plan for Conservation and Development is the official planning document in the
Town; it establishes the Town’s official set of recommendations, policies, and goals for
the use of land and preservation of the Town’s natural, historic, and other resources.
Officially adopted by the Town in 2000, it contains two policies that relate to the
promotion of heritage tourism in the community. The first policy states “The Town
should prepare a master plan for the Old Wethersfield Historic District to preserve and
enhance the historic assets within the largest Historic District in the State of
Connecticut”. The second policy states that the Town should “Develop a Tourism Plan
for Old Wethersfield”. Both policies are being supported and furthered by the current
planning effort associated with the development of this master plan.

Toen of Wethersfielde
- 2000
F . Y Plan of
et

- Conservation
: & Development

i
e
'-‘ -

The 2000 Plan of Conservation
and Development for the Town
of Wethersfield

Historic District Commission Handbook (2003)

The Handbook is the official compliance manual used by the Historic District
Commission of the Town of Wethersfield. The document was prepared in 2003
through a joint effort between the Commission and the Town of Wethersfield’s
Building Department. Part | of the document identifies application procedures and
defines what activities are regulated by the Commission. The second part of the
document includes design guidelines that address historic context, character, and
various exterior architectural elements.

The Silas Deane: A Vision for Reinvestment (2006)

The Town has completed a planning process to redevelop and enhance the Silas Deane
Highway. Currently an uninviting mix of strip malls, chain restaurants, and various
business and governmental uses, the highway is in need of various aesthetic
improvements. The planning process is being undertaken through a partnership with the
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Town of Rocky Hill as a joint effort to enhance the Silas Deane Highway. Together,
the Towns received state funds to develop the master plan and begin improvements to
the highway.

As part of the planning process, the Town has recommended a wayfinding signage
program be implemented for the highway. In response to this recommendation, a
wayfinding component has been included in this Old Wethersfield Master Plan. The
implementation of wayfinding signage directly impacts the historic district, as the
majority of people entering the historic district do so from the Silas Deane and rely on
attractive, well-placed, informative signage to assist them in locating the amenities they
are looking for. The signage proposed along the Silas Deane Highway should be
consistent with signage to be implemented within Old Wethersfield as well as
throughout the entire Town. In addition to signage, the vision for the Silas Deane
Highway addresses land use, transportation, streetscape amenities, architectural
guidelines, and reinvestment sites along the highway.

Wethersfield Destination Signage

This report was prepared by the Greater Hartford Arts Council for the Wethersfield
Tourism Commission. The report is an inventory of the various types and styles of
signage currently located throughout Wethersfield. Types of signage identified in the
report include State DOT signs, gateway signs, directional signs, and destination signs.
The report concluded that the existing signage in the Town is inadequate, particularly
in the context of promoting the Town as a tourist destination. One of the primary
recommendations of the report is that a uniform, consistent design for signage, Town-
wide, should be developed. The tasks associated with recommended enhancements to
the existing sign system were broken down into three distinct phases to occur over a
specified period.

Marketing Communications Plan (2007)

In February 2007 Keiler & Company presented a draft Marketing and Communications
Plan to the Town of Wethersfield. The plan is intended to assist the Town in marketing
and promoting Wethersfield at a Town-wide level. There are a number of
recommendations and proposals that are specific to the Old Wethersfield Historic
District, as well as broad recommendations that have the potential to impact the historic
district. The plan was developed to address the Town’s two marketing goals. The first
is to enhance economic development activities by attracting new businesses and
expanding existing businesses. The second goal is to increase tourism which is an
important potential source of revenue to the Town.

The Marketing and Communications Plan includes recommendations on a number of
topics directly associated with marketing the Town to visitors, businesses, and
developers. Specific topics covered in the document include economic development,
branding, public relations and advertising, tourism and promotional opportunities, and
includes a budget that relates to the specific recommendations.
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Goals and Objectives

The goals and objectives for the Historic Wethersfield Master Plan are intended to
serve as the vision for the planning process. Future sections of the plan identify
specific policies and recommendations to implement the goals and objectives which
were developed with input from Town officials, the Master Plan Steering Committee,
participants in community focus group sessions, and members of the general public
who attended and provided comments at the Community Workshops.

While the overarching goal of the Historic Wethersfield Master Plan is to preserve and
protect the distinctive character of the community through thoughtful and sensitive
planning, there are specific goals and objectives for other specialized segments of the
Old Wethersfield historic district, including historic sites, business development,
streetscape improvements, and programming.

The goals and objectives, as defined below, guided the planning process which resulted
in the development of the Master Plan.

Goal 1:

Preserve and protect the historic character of the community.

Objectives:

A. To maintain the character of existing residential neighborhoods

B. To ensure that new development is in harmony with existing building stock and
land uses

C. To involve all interested stakeholders and residents in the planning process to
ensure their ideas and concerns are incorporated into this plan, and in future
decision-making processes

Goal 2:

Attract and retain appropriate small business within the Village Center that
can be supported by both residents and visitors.

Objectives:

A. To define an appropriate business mix that could be feasibly supported within
the district and identify incentives and other strategies to help create the desired
business mix

B. To identify appropriate locations for business growth and development that
does not detract or negatively impact the existing character of surrounding
neighborhoods

C. To identify a niche market that is appealing to both local residents and visitors
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Goal 3:

Ensure

that the existing historic sites and resources remain viable links to the

Town’s past.

Objectives:

A

Goal 4:

To identify a marketing program to assist existing organizations in attracting a
wider visitor base, both locally and regionally

To foster cooperation and collaboration among existing historic sites to pool
available resources for the betterment of each entity

To identify potential joint initiatives between historic sites and local businesses
To identify an interpretive signage program to help tell the story of Historic
Wethersfield and its historical significance

Implement streetscape and roadway enhancements which improve the safety
and physical appearance of the historic district for pedestrians.

Obijectives:

A.

B.

To identify an appropriate scale for new development within the district that is
compatible within the existing historic context

To identify improvements to major intersections and other practical traffic
calming measures

To identify safety improvements at key intersections and recommend
modifications to existing conditions which improve pedestrian safety

To recommend improvements to gateways leading into the historic district that
showcase the district as an attractive and desirable destination

To identify pedestrian amenities that are cohesive and consistent throughout
the district and represent the character of the community

To develop a signage program that includes a level of signage that can be
implemented in stages throughout the district, including welcome signs,
wayfinding signage, directional signage, interpretive exhibits, and historical
markers

To assess traffic patterns and parking in the Village Center and identify
practical solutions for improving safety, accessibility, and availability of
parking
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Goal 5:

Identify opportunities for programming and special events that help to market
the historic district as a destination to districts residents, town residents, and
regional visitors.

Objectives:

A. To provide recommendations for improving existing marketing efforts and to
identify new opportunities for marketing the district’s resources

B. To identify opportunities for programming and special events that build on the
unique sites, resources, and history of the town

C. To develop partnerships between historic sites to develop programs that build
on the strengths of each resource

D. To generate awareness of Historic Wethersfield and its attractions, businesses,
and offerings to historic district residents, Town residents, regional visitors,
and tourists
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CHAPTER 2: HISTORIC CONTEXT

Introduction

Wethersfield was the first permanent English settlement in Connecticut and was one of
the first three towns to be developed along the Connecticut River. With landscape and
built resources representing the seventeenth to the twenty-first centuries, it forms an
important continuum of architectural, socioeconomic, and cultural history. Today, it is
home to Connecticut’s largest historic district, and its history is communicated to
visitors and residents through a variety of means, including the preservation of historic
buildings and landscapes; the continued maintenance and use of historic public
buildings, businesses, churches, and houses; multiple historic house properties; strong
town traditions; heritage tourism; and over a century of conscious community efforts to
preserve and beautify its village center (McDonough 1987:5; WVIA 2001; Wieder
1986:xi).

Before Wethersfield

In 1631, Indian tribes along the Connecticut River were decimated by disease. Fearing
that this made them more vulnerable to attacks from the Pequot tribe to the southeast,
they took the step of asking English colonists who had settled in Massachusetts to come
settle along the Connecticut River as a protective measure. The Massachusetts
colonists declined the invitation initially, but within a few years, as more settlers
arrived, a Connecticut colony seemed more feasible. The Plymouth colony explored
the territory in 1632 and established a trading post at what is now Windsor, at the
mouth of the Farmington River, in 1633. The Dutch established a trading post at
Hartford the same year. In the fall of 1633, John Oldham of Watertown, Massachusetts
came to explore along the Connecticut. Members of the Wongunk Indian tribe
inhabited the Wethersfield area and called the land “Pyquag,” meaning “cleared land”
(Howard 1997:14; McDonough 1987:5; Wieder 1986:11-12). The river formed an
oxbow curve just north of the town, and the Wongunks cultivated a variety of crops in
the broad meadows. Oldham noted the excellent natural harbor and fertile, cleared
fields, and the Wongunk chief indicated that the English were welcome there. Oldham
returned to Watertown and petitioned the Massachusetts court for permission to settle
at Pyquag. While the court debated during the winter of 1634-1635, Oldham and nine
other men from Watertown camped in the vicinity of the Cove to establish claim to the
site. The court finally granted permission on May 5, 1635 for residents of Watertown
to settle on the Connecticut, and six members of the Watertown church were
“dismissed” around the same time to form a new church “in the River of Connecticut.”
The first group of families arrived to join the Ten Adventurers at Pyquag during the
summer of 1635. This settlement, initially called Watertown after the Massachusetts
town left behind, was the first permanent English settlement on the Connecticut River.
Within a year, residents of Cambridge and Dorchester, Massachusetts, had received
permission to settle Windsor and Hartford, and a committee composed of settlers from
the three new towns was appointed to govern them (Wieder 1986:11-12). Although the
trading posts at Windsor and Hartford were established slightly earlier, Wethersfield
began as a permanent settlement and thus is regarded as Connecticut’s first town
(Howard 1997:14).
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The Early Settlement

During the early Puritan settlement of New England, towns were generally founded for
the purpose of seating a new church and congregation, and the meetinghouse formed
the physical, spiritual, and social core of the settlement. There was no separation of
church and state within the Massachusetts Bay colony, and little tolerance of those who
did not conform to Puritan beliefs. As existing towns grew and the best lands within
them were claimed, newer arrivals and ministers sought to form new towns elsewhere.
Theological differences and the influences of different ministers also caused groups to
splinter off (or be banished) from established towns. Typically each group seeking to
form a town had a minister named as its leader. Wethersfield, interestingly, did not
have any one minister named as the spiritual leader of the group, although at least four
ministers were known to have moved there sometime before 1640. Oldham’s
determination to begin the new settlement, against the wishes of government and
church officials in Watertown, resulted in the town’s formation without a church in
place. However, it appears from records of the governing committee that the members
of the Watertown church fulfilled their covenant to found a new church in Connecticut
sometime in the first year of the settlement. Due to the loss of records from before
1640, is not known when or where this group first convened. Problems of theology and
land distribution among the congregation eventually led three of the four ministers and
many of the original settlers to leave Wethersfield by 1640 to found Milford and
Stamford, and the fourth, the Rev. Henry Smith, became the first settled minister of the
Wethersfield church in 1641 (Wieder 1986:6-7, 12-13, 16).

Wethersfield was formally organized and assumed its current name in 1636. At this
time, the first land survey took place and the town was laid out. As was typical
practice, settlers received grants of a town lot, averaging two to three acres, plus
outlying tracts for agriculture, woodlands, and pastures. The surveyor, Nathaniel
Foote, set aside land for a meetinghouse and three large town “commons” or communal
properties where residents could graze their livestock. One common was at the harbor
(now Cove Park), another on Broad Street (now the Broad Street Green) and the third
was near the meetinghouse lot, near the intersection of Main and Marsh Streets. All
were considerably larger in their original form than they are today (Howard 1997:16;
Wieder 1986:15). The town of Wethersfield originally encompassed 54 square miles
on both sides of the Connecticut River, but settlement was concentrated on the west
side of the river at the harbor and to the south of the river (Howard 1997:33; Kuckro
2007).

The original settlers faced the arduous tasks of constructing shelters, clearing land,
planting and harvesting crops, and preparing for their first winter in Connecticut. The
land on which they settled had been purchased for cash from the Wongunks, but the
English concept of permanent land ownership was not consistent with the Wongunk’s
cultural practices, and created conflict when Wongunk hunters periodically returned to
traditional hunting grounds. Although the Wongunks left the immediate area as the
town was established and had peaceful relations with the colonists, the colonists were
still fearful of raids by the Indians in general, given the language and cultural barriers
between the groups. The colonists” worst fears were realized in the spring of 1637,
when marauding Pequots came up the river in the early morning hours and ambushed
the settlers when they left their homes in the village to work in the fields. Nine people
and 20 cows were killed, and two young girls were briefly taken captive. This
traumatic event prompted Wethersfield and the other river towns to band together and
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wage war on the Pequots.  The success of this campaign convinced the three
Connecticut River towns that they were strong enough to form a government
independent of Massachusetts, and the resultant adoption of the Fundamental Orders in
1639 effectively separated Connecticut into its own colony (Wieder 1986:14-15). The
Fundamental Orders, composed by Connecticut River colonists nearly 150 years before
the U.S. declared its independence from England, are regarded as the first written
constitution in what would eventually become the United States of America and served
as a model for the U.S. Constitution (WVIA 2001).

The first permanent dwellings in Wethersfield were situated along Broad and Main
Streets, and around the Broad Street Green (Howard 1997:177; Wieder 1986:19). The
early houses were sited around the Green on the east side of Broad Street abutting the
Little Plain, which the Indians had already cleared for farming. The Green itself was
used for military drills and to pasture livestock. The first houses the colonists built
were log-framed one-room cottages with earth floors, chimneys made of sticks
plastered with clay, and thatch or wood-shingled roofs. These dwellings were short-
lived and eventually replaced by small permanent structures with post-and-beam
construction. This second phase of house construction was prevalent until the end of
the seventeenth century, and was characterized by a two-to-four-room dwelling with
puncheon (split-log) floors and brick chimneys. Most early dwellings did not survive,
but the oldest extant dwelling in Wethersfield is 481 Main Street, believed to have been
built for George Hubbard c. 1637 (Howard 1997:175-177; Wieder 1986:35-36).

A hillside cemetery was part of the Wethersfield town landscape from its earliest days,
although the date of its establishment is not known. It occupies a site which had
already been used as a burying ground by Native Americans. It is believed that the
nine victims of the 1637 Pequot Massacre were interred in the Ancient Burying Ground
in deliberately unmarked graves. At least two of the original settlers may lie in this
cemetery as well. Nathaniel Foote’s grave is unmarked but believed to lie within the
cemetery. The grave of Leonard Chester, who died in 1648, is marked by a headstone
carved c. 1670s-1680s. This stone is the oldest example of a Puritan grave monument
in Wethersfield and among the oldest recorded gravestones in New England
(McDonough 1987:5, 15; Wieder 1987:19). The proper maintenance of the Ancient
Burying Ground was clearly the responsibility of the town by 1680, when Wethersfield
appointed Emanuel (Enoch) Buck as its gravedigger (McDonough 1987:6). Within the
greater boundaries of the original town of Wethersfield, at least four additional burying
grounds were established, but these were eventually incorporated into newer towns,
leaving the Ancient Burying Ground as the primary cemetery in town (McDonough
1987:37).

In 1645, the town began construction on its first meetinghouse, which took two years to
complete. Little is known about what this looked like, but it was likely a square one-
story edifice of solid wood or log construction and stood at the intersection of Main and
Marsh Streets, a central location within the town plan. It was built and owned by the
town, and all inhabitants were taxed for its construction and upkeep. The Wethersfield
meetinghouse was a multipurpose space and was not consecrated for religious use. It
was intended not only for worship, but as a place for town meetings, public gatherings,
and refuge from Indian raids (Wieder 1986:19-20). A second meetinghouse, 50 feet
square with dormer windows in its hipped roof, was constructed in 1686 and was used
for the following 75 years. This frame building was probably similar to the Old Ship
Meetinghouse in Hingham, Massachusetts (Howard 1997:17-1; Wieder 1986:28-29).
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A Maritime Community — “Shipbuilding and Trade”

Shipbuilding and maritime trade were key economic factors in the early history of
Wethersfield. Access to navigable waterways was critical for trade, and Wethersfield
had a good natural harbor on the Connecticut River. At this time, the river was too
shallow above Wethersfield for larger vessels to continue north to Hartford, so
Wethersfield’s harbor became the primary transfer point in the shipment of goods to
and from upper Connecticut River settlers. Inbound ships were unloaded at
Wethersfield and goods were transferred to flatboats or wagons. Pipestaves, or barrel
staves, were perhaps the most important early export from Wethersfield. Wood, salted
meat and fish, grains, flax, and cornmeal were among other products shipped to the
West Indies in exchange for molasses, sugar, rum, and salt. European goods were
procured in Boston.

| The Cove and Old Wethersfield
| waterfront began to develop in the
seventeenth century

During the seventeenth century, the river’s primary course flowed through the area that
is now the Cove, and the harbor waterfront in this area was developed with at least one
shipyard and six warehouses. Thomas Deming, a ship carpenter, received a piece of
land by the “landing-place” for a shipyard in 1648 and used it to build the Tryall, which
is believed to have been the first ship built in Connecticut, in 1649 (Adams 1977:8;
Wieder 1987:37). In 1661, the town granted Samuel Wells land to build a warehouse,
and by 1691, five additional warehouses, a wharf, and a blacksmith shop formed a busy
commercial nucleus at the harbor. Ice and fish houses and a ropewalk were located at
the harbor as well. The last warehouse, built by Nicholas Moorcock c. 1690, is the
only survivor of severe floods in 1692 that washed away the other buildings and
changed the river channel drastically. (Adams 1977:8-10; Howard 1997:30-31).

The flooding redirected the river to the east and formed the current Cove, which now
was separated from the primary channel and no longer useful as a landing place and
harbor. These topographic changes also made the river navigable above Wethersfield,
and the town’s importance as a transfer point for Hartford’s trade declined. After 1692,
Wethersfield’s shipbuilding, trade, and shipping operations moved south to a riverfront
landing place and shipyard that had been set aside by the town in 1672, and a new
complex of warehouses and buildings arose there. This area, known as both Stepney
and Rocky Hill in its early years, is now part of the Town of Rocky Hill and first began
to develop in the 1670s. The Cove area remained in limited use for shipbuilding, but
was more useful as a place for fishing and ice harvesting (Adams 1977:9-12; Howard
1997:31-35; Wieder 1986:77).
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Despite the wilderness and its scarce, poor roads, settlement spread rapidly into
Wethersfield’s outer reaches, including the area east of the river by 1649. A sawmill
was built on this side in 1667, and the expanding population petitioned the Town of
Wethersfield to establish its own church in 1689. The General Court of Connecticut
granted permission in 1690 for this area to become a township as soon as it had
procured a permanent minister. In 1692, the Rev. Timothy Stevens arrived, and in
1693, construction of a meetinghouse began and the town of Glastonbury was formally
incorporated. This 1693 split was the first of several transactions over a 150-year
period in which approximately 18 square miles of Wethersfield’s original 54-square-
mile tract were split off to form neighboring towns (Howard 1997:33; Kuckro 2007).

The Griswoldville section of Wethersfield, lying southwest of the main settlement,
became an early milling center when Leonard Chester began operating a grist mill on
the brook there in 1636-1637. In 1680, Jacob Griswold settled on a 16-acre property
that he had received from his father. Griswold’s early settlement later evolved into
Griswoldville, a discrete town within Wethersfield best known for its historic
concentration of mills and in the 19" century, industry (Howard 1997:35).

The village of Wethersfield had evolved into a densely settled linear village by the end
of the 1600s, with dwellings, farms, and a few businesses lining Main Street and Broad
Street south from the Cove to the road leading west to Leonard Chester’s mill, as well
as Sandy Lane and Watering Lane. At least 250 property owners have been identified
within the village core and on Wright’s Island nearby prior to 1700 (Willard and
Birmingham 1951).

Shipbuilding and maritime trade continued as a dominant industry in Wethersfield
during the eighteenth century. A new shipyard began at Stepney in 1750 and another
was added in 1797. Small ships based in Wethersfield and owned by Wethersfield
citizens sailed back and forth to Boston and the West Indies, and were well suited for
navigating both the river and the small harbors at Wethersfield and in the West Indies.
Some ships built in Wethersfield were sold overseas. Due to the loss of most maritime
records during the Revolutionary War, exact numbers of vessels built and operated in
Wethersfield are not known, but it is clear that grains, pipestaves, livestock, salt fish,
and onions were traded abroad for shipments of increasingly sophisticated goods and
luxury items. Food products like salt, sugar, molasses, rum, liquors, wine, tea, spices,
and limes were imported from abroad, along with fabrics, lace, china, glassware, books,
and tools from Europe. Imported wares were sold by approximately 15 local merchants
in Wethersfield by the 1770s, indicating a thriving maritime trade. Along with
carpenters, sailmakers, cordwainers, and crew members who worked in shipyards or
aboard ships, Wethersfield’s economic base now included many specialized
tradespeople, such as blacksmiths, cobblers, tanners, weavers, joiners, and millers.
Taverns were also established to cater to the many visitors who passed through the
town by road or water (Wieder 1986:42-43).

An Agrarian Community — “The Red Onion”

Agriculture was a universal occupation for Wethersfield residents from the beginning,
with nearly everyone raising subsistence crops on their acreage and relying upon family
labor to plant, tend, harvest, and process the yield. Wealthier families had more land
than others, but also needed more hands to keep it in cultivation. Excess crops were
sold for export or for barter with local merchants (Wieder 1986:44).
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During the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, one particular crop earned
Wethersfield renown throughout the world: the Wethersfield red onion. Raised in
Wethersfield’s fertile fields, the onions were often tended and harvested by women and
girls, and were Wethersfield’s most important export during the seventeenth and early
eighteenth century (Wieder 1986:43). Beginning in the 1730s, as many as 500 local
residents a year worked cultivating onions, and Wethersfield red onions were prized
cash crops that were sold and shipped all over the world, including coastal North
America, England, the Mediterranean, and the West Indies. They were typically
bundled into five-pound “ropes” or packed in barrels for shipment. The “immense
fields of onions” surrounding Wethersfield and the unique local custom of women and
girls working in the onion patches were impressive enough to be remarked upon
repeatedly by visitors to Wethersfield during the eighteenth and early nineteenth
century (Howard 1997:84-85).

Wethersfield’s growth and economic prosperity were such that its housing stock
improved considerably in size and quality during the 18" century (Wieder 1986:44).
Settlers throughout New England adapted traditional English building forms to the
harsher New England climate and the materials available, creating the first generation
of substantial permanent dwellings that have survived into modern times. This period
saw the widespread construction of a two-story timber-framed dwelling with two
rooms on each floor divided by a central masonry chimney, with a winding staircase
placed against the chimney in a small front entrance passage. Expansions to the rear
added additional rooms and gave rise to what was eventually called a New England
saltbox.

Houses within the Connecticut colonies were constructed in this manner beginning
during the mid seventeenth century, and the type became more prevalent after 1700
(Roth 1979:13-18). The restored Buttolph-Williams house, constructed c. 1715 for
Benjamin Belden, is among the earlier examples of this dwelling type extant in
Wethersfield today (Historic Wethersfield 2003). As the century went on and citizens
achieved greater economic prosperity, Wethersfield houses became more refined in
style and larger, more elaborate dwellings were constructed with large sash windows,
four or more rooms per floor and multiple chimneys. Gambrel roofs and Georgian or
Federal details were used on the more elaborate examples. Dozens of houses built
during this period still stand. The Joseph Webb (1752), Ezekiel Williams (1759), Silas
Deane (c. 1770), Solomon Welles (1774), and lIsaac Stevens (c. 1789) houses
exemplify the increasingly fine dwellings of prosperous Wethersfield citizens during
the eighteenth century.

18% Century Growth and Development

Wethersfield’s meetinghouse, the First Church of Christ, is the third meetinghouse
constructed by the local congregation, and was built in 1761-1764 to accommodate the
growing community. As with Wethersfield’s residential buildings, this meetinghouse
was a larger and more refined building than its predecessors. As the population grew
during the eighteenth century, the 1686 meetinghouse was rapidly becoming crowded
and inadequate. As early as 1753, there was discussion of replacing it, and in 1760, the
town took action to raise funds for a new building. A dwelling lot adjoining the 1686
meetinghouse was acquired as a building site. Despite an economic downturn, an
ambitious fundraising effort was undertaken by the town. Special taxes, paid in part
with parishioners’ onions which were then sold, raised over $23,000 in funds, and the
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cornerstone was laid in May 1761. The new, stately red brick building was completed
in 1764. It was constructed using a basic and widely-used plan of a gabled two-story
building with the pulpit centered on one long wall, an interior gallery upstairs, and a
projecting “porch” at one end which contained stairs inside and a steeple on top.
However, the huge size of the building and the use of brick as a construction material
set the Wethersfield church far above its frame counterparts in most towns. The steeple
was modeled after those adorning two Episcopal churches: the frame Trinity Church
(1725) in Newport, and the brick Old North Church (1723) in Boston. Both reflect the
influence of Sir Christopher Wren of England, whose architectural design work was

Steeple of the First
Church of Christ

published in British puweiii vouie.

The presence of such expensive and sophisticated architecture in Wethersfield suggests
that members of the parish were literate, aware of English fashions, and had
considerable familiarity with church architecture in New England’s largest cities. The
church is the only extant brick eighteenth-century meetinghouse in Connecticut, as well
as one of the finest surviving churches of its period. It was called both “the finest
Meeting House outside of Boston” and “the church that onions built.” The new
meetinghouse, combined with the solidly built houses and farms, shops, thriving harbor
and shipyards, and lush fields of onions and other crops, made Wethersfield an
attractive town to passing travelers (Howard 1997:85-86; Wieder 1986:45, 62-65).

Other buildings in the developing town included at least two wood-frame public
schoolhouses in the village proper. At an unknown date before 1770, both were
replaced by brick buildings, and known as the Broad Street School on Broad Street and
the Northbrick School at Hartford Avenue, State, and Nott Streets. Other early
schoolhouses in Wethersfield included frame buildings on Main Street, South Hill, and
West Hill. The West Hill schoolhouse was replaced with a brick building in 1795.
These little schools gave local children a primary-school education, and the town by
and large was a literate population that valued at least a basic education (Wieder
1976:47-48).

The growth in population also translated into a greater number of people dying within
the Town. On March 8, 1736, the Ancient Burying Ground was expanded for the first
time through Nathaniel Burnham’s donation of land to the south and west. A caretaker,
whose responsibilities included keeping cattle out of the cemetery and tolling the
meetinghouse bell to announce deaths and funerals, was appointed in 1757. Along
with a small salary, he was permitted to harvest the grass and the apples growing on
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trees within the cemetery. In 1790, the Ancient Burying Ground was extended a third
time with land given by James Marsh, and now reached up to the location of the new
meetinghouse (McDonough 1987:6).

As the town population grew, the boundaries of Wethersfield shrank as two more
outlying areas formed their own parishes. The distance, poor roads, and topography
made travel to attend Sunday services at the Wethersfield meetinghouse difficult for the
increasing numbers of residents who settled in outlying parts of the town. Settlement
had begun in 1668 in the westernmost area of Wethersfield, but the travel route over
Cedar Mountain was challenging and in 1710, residents of that area were permitted to
worship amongst themselves during the winter months. Three years later, 31 men from
the “West Division” petitioned to form their own parish and were granted a charter, but
a permanent minister was not installed until 1720. In 1721, this parish area became
known as Newington, or the Second Society of Wethersfield.

Meanwhile, the growing settlement at Stepney/Rocky Hill petitioned for its own parish
in 1720. Wethersfield permitted the separation in 1721, and the Connecticut General
Court officially made it a parish in 1722. It assumed the name Stepney in 1723, and
was also known as the Third Society of Wethersfield. Each of the three parishes, or
“societies,” had to maintain its own schools, meetinghouse, and burying grounds until
Rocky Hill incorporated as a separate town in 1843 and Newington followed suit in
1871. At this point, Wethersfield assumed its current boundaries (Wieder 1986:47).

Wethersfield retained the Griswoldville settlement within its boundaries permanently,
and formed the First Society in 1722 to ensure that only residents of Wethersfield who
remained within the original parish had control of the town. The First Society owned
and maintained the meetinghouse, schools, commons, and burying ground. The First
School Society, a descendant of this early governing body, presently owns and
maintains the Ancient Burying Ground (Howard 1997:33-36; Wieder 1986:46-47).

An interpretive wayside on Main Street
discusses the role of Wethersfield in the
American Revolution

As with many harbor towns, Wethersfield was caught up in the events leading to the
American Revolution, and its merchants and seafarers were impacted greatly by
England’s repeated attempts to control trade and taxes in the Colonies. Many town
residents enlisted to fight the British, and Wethersfield citizen Silas Deane, a member
of the Continental Congress in 1774 and 1775, was selected to travel to France to
negotiate for supplies. Deane is regarded as America’s first diplomat, and hosted
George Washington at his home in Wethersfield during Washington’s first visit to town
in 1775. Washington visited two times more, dining at the Newington home of Captain
Charles Churchill in 1780, and lodging for five days at the Joseph Webb house in 1781.
At the Webb House, he met with Count de Rochambeau of France, and their strategic
planning for battle at this meeting ultimately led to the Battle of Yorktown and the
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successful end of the war. The inland position of the town spared it from British raids
during the war, but the British blockade cut off trade and financial crises challenged
even wealthy residents of the town.

Wartime did bring some new economic opportunities. At least two businesses,
including a saltpeter mill and a hatmaking operation, were begun in town to supply the
Continental troops. The town saw a number of temporary residents as well. Fearing
raids in New Haven, Yale College moved its students to inland communities, and its
senior class took up residence in Wethersfield with their tutor in 1777. Since the town
was regarded as safe territory, it was also used to quarter British prisoners and
Loyalists, who lived in private homes or taverns. With normal trade disrupted by the
war, many sea captains in Wethersfield turned to privateering, or using their armed
private vessels to seize British ships and property for the benefit of the Continental
forces. At least 17 Wethersfield vessels were registered as privateers, and were most
active between 1777 and 1780, but the practice was generally not as profitable as
normal trade. Trade resumed after 1780 when the theater of war moved further south
and the British blockade of the Connecticut coastline was relaxed. Privateering was
discouraged at this point because the men were needed to meet militia quotas. Even
after the war ended, trade did not return to its previous levels, and increasing shares of
Wethersfield’s former business now went to Hartford instead (Howard 1997:61;
Reynolds 1976:22-26; WVIA [2006]; Wieder 1986:48-55).

Continued Agricultural Development — “The Seed Industry”

The nineteenth century saw agriculture assuming dominance in Wethersfield’s
economy as maritime occupations and trade began to decline rapidly. Following the
Revolutionary War, American traders were no longer welcome in British ports, and this
cut sharply into profits. Embargoes during the War of 1812 further exacerbated the
losses, and trade from Wethersfield ceased for the most part by 1825. Meanwhile,
Hartford’s rise to prominence took away much of the commerce that had flourished at
Wethersfield, and shipbuilding at the Stepney landing continued only into the 1820s.
The loss of this lucrative business took a heavy toll on the town, and Yale’s president, a
visitor in 1814, remarked that the overall appearance and maintenance of the houses
had declined considerably since the 1770s and that Wethersfield, a town that once
outshone most others, had failed to keep pace with its neighbors (Wieder 1986:54-56).

Water transportation did remain important to a degree, and the Latimer Wharf at the
end of River Road was built in 1819. This wharf served as a landing place for large
shipments of coal and other supplies. Commercial net fishing and fish preservation for
shipment also occurred in Wethersfield throughout the nineteenth century. Fishing had
occurred from the beginnings of settlement, but the transportation advances of the
nineteenth century allowed commercial fisheries to continue. From fish houses on the
Cove, members of the Buck and Hanmer families continued to fish the Cove and the
river for alewives, which were salted and shipped in barrels (Wieder 1986:74-77).

An innovative new seed industry began in Wethersfield by the early 1800s, and some
believe the town was “the cradle of American seed companies” (Howard 1997:103).
Due to its rich soil and access to water and later railroad transportation, Wethersfield
was a fertile location for the propagation and export of seed crops. An 1811
advertisement in a Hartford newspaper indicated that Joseph Belden had a business in
Wethersfield selling garden seeds. Less than a decade later, in 1820, James Belden
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began an extensive seed business, called Wethersfield Seed Company, which he
operated from his property on Main Street. His property contained gardens, several
seed houses, and seven or eight barns, and his wares included at least 60 different types
of vegetable and herb seeds.

A disastrous 1834 fire destroyed much of the Belden buildings, and the business was
sold in 1838 to Franklin G. Comstock and his son William. At this time, the property
contained 19 acres and a barn. The Comstocks joined with other partners, eventually
including Henry Ferre, to produce seeds, and in 1845 Comstock, Ferre & Co. was
established as the new business name. Comstock, Ferre’s seed gardens soon occupied
land throughout the town, and their products were distributed by traveling salesmen
across the country. Contact with a Shaker community in Enfield brought the highly
successful strategy of selling the seeds in paper packets. The company added roots,
fertilizers, and tools to its offerings before it formally incorporated in 1853, and has
continued in business to this day on the same site, using its early buildings.

Under the leadership of multiple generations of the Willard family, Comstock Ferre
expanded into wholesaling and today is both a seed company and a garden center, still
occupying its nineteenth century building complex in town. Until the mid-1900s,
Comstock Ferre raised seeds in fields west of Main Street, between Main and Broad
Streets south of Garden Street, and in Griswoldville. The seeds were harvested, dried
on muslin sheets outside the Main Street offices, and then milled, tested, and bagged
for distribution. Numerous other seed companies developed as well, some more
successful than others. The Johnson, Robbins & Co. seed company (1855) eventually
became a strong force in the southern seed market, and the Charles C. Hart Seed
Company (1897) on Main Street, a descendant of Johnson, Robbins and other earlier
wholesale seed businesses, has continued to the present day in its historic location. The
widespread distribution of the seed companies’ products meant that Wethersfield seeds
have been sown in gardens and fields nationwide over the past century and a half
(Comstock, Ferre and Co. [2007]; Howard 1997:101-103; Wieder 1986:75).

As the seed industry was taking off, Wethersfield’s onion cultivation began to decline.
Harsh weather, worm infestations, and increasing competition from farmers in Rhode
Island during the 1818-1838 period spelled the end of the red onion’s dominance.
Some farmers continued to raise red onions into the late 1800s, but production was
considerably less than before (Howard 1997:86). Other crops, including grains, fruits,
and vegetables, were eventually shipped to Hartford markets. Agriculture became
somewhat challenging due to soil depletion, and nationwide innovations of the mid-
1800s in fertilizer and soil conditioning were probably welcomed. Dairy farming
began in 1859, when Silas Robbins brought the first Jersey cows to Wethersfield.
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Other local farmers followed suit with different cattle breeds, and over 20 dairy farms
were operating in Wethersfield by 1900 (Wieder 1986:75).

19" Century Advancements and Social Change

Wethersfield was host to some industry during the nineteenth century, particularly in
the Griswoldville section. The old Adams gristmill at Griswoldville was augmented in
1820 by a new sawmill. A ropewalk was established there in 1800, a short-lived
woodworking factory opened in 1837, and a mattress factory started in 1844. A nearby
complex of cloth mills owned by Griswold family members manufactured stockings
and satinet. The Griswolds introduced the power loom at this facility in 1831, and
began to use steam power. Their operation was reorganized as the Griswoldville
Manufacturing Company in 1834. During the Civil War, the company employed 300-
500 people to make clothing for the Union Army, but the presence of a boardinghouse
on the property suggests that some of these employees came from other towns. Lack of
employees and an inadequate water supply after the war forced the Griswoldville
Manufacturing Company to close, but the Bailey & Wolcott Company used part of the
site to manufacture axes and hammers for some time afterward.

Within the village center of Wethersfield, Dr. Erastus Cooke operated a chemical
factory making dyes, saltpeter, and medicines on Chemical Lane. Overall, the
industries that formed in Wethersfield did not include large plants or worker housing
complexes, and since most were relatively short-lived and disappeared before 1900,
there is little visible evidence of the town’s industrial history today. Only the Adams
Mill at Griswoldville survived into the twentieth century. The town’s appearance in the
1800s was that of a rural farming village, and not a mill town (Howard 1997:89-91;
Wieder 1986:76-77).

Transportation advances occurring nationwide gave Wethersfield increased access to
the rest of the world. Steamships were operating on the Connecticut River by the
1820s, and regular stagecoach routes from Hartford to New Haven passed through the
town, bringing mail and travelers. The Hartford and New Haven Railroad’s Newington
station was built in 1839. Another railroad line, the Hartford and Connecticut Valley
line, passed directly through Wethersfield. In 1871, the Wethersfield Station was built
in the village and Church Street was opened up to provide access. A second station,
South Wethersfield, was added in 1872. In 1863, a horse-drawn streetcar route opened
from the State House in Hartford to the Hills Hotel in Wethersfield. This line was
replaced with trolley cars in 1894 and the route was extended south to the Broad Street
Green (Wieder 1986:81).

In 1818, Connecticut’s state constitution enacted provisions for the separation of
church and state, and parish and town boundaries were now different things.
Concurrent with this act, the town became less closely bound to the First Church and
other religious denominations began to arrive. Baptists and Methodists had arrived in
Wethersfield and begun worship during the late eighteenth century, but did not have
their own buildings or ministers. The Baptists met at the Northbrick School until they
built their first church in 1816, and the Methodists had itinerant preachers between
1790 and 1821, when they united with nearby parishes to hire a shared minister. The
first Methodist church was built on Main Street in 1824. Several Newington residents
founded a short-lived Episcopal church in 1797 which endured only until 1810, and the
next Episcopal church in Wethersfield was Trinity Church, founded in the 1860s. The
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First Church built a Gothic-style brick chapel next to the old church in 1872 for use as
a Sunday school, and a Carpenter Gothic frame chapel was built the same year at
Griswoldville. Griswoldville’s chapel was used by both First Church members and
other nearby residents who had formed the Griswoldville Union Sunday School in 1860
because of their distance from the main church (Howard 1997:35; Wieder 1986:47, 69-
71, 99-100).

In the early years of the century, new publicly owned buildings arose in Wethersfield in
response to growing societal needs. The Academy was built in 1804 as a school and
public assembly building. Its two large downstairs rooms were intended for male and
female instruction, while the single upstairs room was a meeting hall. Though owned
by the town, the academies that used it were tuition-based private schools, none of
which lasted long. Among the best known of these was the Female Seminary operated
by the Rev. Joseph Emerson and his wife from 1830 t01833. The town attempted
repeatedly to establish a public high school, beginning in 1839, and finally started a
high school program in the Academy. This lasted from 1868 until 1893, when a new
high school, the Governor Thomas Welles School, was built. The Academy was
subsequently used as a town hall and public library (Wieder 1986:79).

The small public schoolhouses of the previous century endured, though some were
rebuilt in brick, including the Broad Street School after a fire in 1866, and the West
Hill School in 1869. The South Hill School was built ¢. 1850s on Maple Street, and the
High Street School in 1862. Griswoldville built a frame school in 1837 and replaced it
with a brick building in 1852 (Wieder 1986:79).

The town opened its first almshouse, or workhouse, in 1811. In 1838, it purchased a
34-acre farm on what was then called Pratt’s Ferry Road and converted an existing
dwelling on the property for use as an almshouse. Residents of the institution received
clothing and medical care and worked at cultivating subsistence crops to feed and
support themselves. Some poor residents did not live at the almshouse, but were
boarded with local families or in neighboring towns at the expense of the town of
Wethersfield. The almshouse was replaced with a new brick building in 1850, and an
addition was made in 1862 (Howard 1997:99).

The Connecticut State Prison was established near the Cove in 1827, replacing an older
facility in Granby, and operated at that site until 1963. Its initial population included
127 prisoners, and it was the first state-owned building in Wethersfield (Howard
1997:53; Wieder 1986:77).

Fire was an ever-present fear of town residents, particularly in the village core. The
first volunteer fire company was organized in 1803, making it the oldest in the United
States. Despite its existence, two disastrous fires in town occurred during the early
1830s, causing significant changes to the streetscape. The first fire began in the John
Williams barn north of the meetinghouse on the east side of Main Street in 1831, and
resulted in the destruction of several barns and six homes, one of which didn’t burn but
was pulled down by volunteers to halt the fire from spreading further. The second fire,
which occurred in August 1834 on the west side of Main Street, destroyed James
Belden’s barn and seed houses, three other houses and barns, and a cobbler’s shop.
Recovery from the fires was slow. Between 1836 and 1850, the use of fireproof brick
or stone construction was introduced. Replacement buildings were erected in place of
burned structures, including a stately, “Southern-style” brick dwelling built by John
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Williams next to the meetinghouse. This house was perhaps the first example of a
Greek Revival house in town. Construction of this house between 1832 and 1836 also
introduced building setbacks in the central village streetscape. Wethersfield’s fire
company was incorporated in 1834, but fire protection did not improve substantially
until it bought its first pumper engine from Hartford in 1858 (Howard 19997:87-90;
Wieder 1986:78-79).

Wethersfield continued to enjoy the introduction of new domestic architecture styles as
seen in popular pattern books and on buildings in larger cities. As farm properties were
handed down from generation to generation, younger family members added new
houses or remodeled old ones to suit modern tastes toward the increasingly picturesque
revival styles sweeping the young United States. The austere eighteenth-century
Georgian and Federal sea captains’ houses soon had more exuberant neighbors built in
the Greek Revival, Italianate, and Carpenter Gothic styles during the nineteenth
century, forming a continuum of Wethersfield residents’ architectural taste along the
old streets (WVIA 2001).

By 1881, the town was again outgrowing the Ancient Burying Ground. In that year,
the heirs of Dr. John Marsh donated a large tract to the First School Society to expand
the cemetery. This parcel has since been referred to as the Village Cemetery, while the
three older sections are collectively called the Ancient Burying Ground. The First
School Society retains ownership of all of the sections and shares responsibility for
upkeep with the Wethersfield Cemetery Association (McDonough 1987:6).

Toward the end of the century, residents of Wethersfield banded together to form a few
philanthropic organizations. One of these, the Village Improvement Society, was
established in 1883 and raised funds to install sidewalks and oil streetlamps on the
major streets. Electric street lighting was installed in 1898. Wethersfield’s farmers
also began one of the first Grange societies in Connecticut in 1890 to promote
agricultural education and social opportunities among its membership. This group
erected a Grange Hall on Main Street in 1898 (Howard 1997:120-121; WVIA [2006];
Wieder 1986:83).

Grange Hall on Main Street
in Old Wethersfield

Despite the fire losses and infill buildings, the advent of railroads and trolleys, plus
additional new dwellings and businesses added during the nineteenth century,
Wethersfield’s appearance and density at the end of the nineteenth century had changed
little from 100 years earlier. It was still an agricultural village surrounded by farms and
fields, with dense concentrations of homes only within the village core as well as in
certain discontiguous areas like Griswoldville, Jordan Lane, and Maple Street.
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Even in these more developed areas, properties were semi-rural in appearance and
typically included a house and auxiliary outbuildings, such as a barn, carriage house,
chicken coop, woodshed, and privy. There was often considerable open space between
and behind houses because of the generous two- to three-acre lot sizes established
generations earlier. Most town properties had enough space for vegetable and flower
gardens, fruit trees, a grape arbor, and a well. As was common in an agricultural
community, residents typically raised much of their own food and kept some farm
animals, even if farming was not their primary livelihood. As in the beginning, many
village homeowners still had outlots where they farmed and cut wood. The roads in
most directions were lined with farms and orchards, and the overall atmosphere of the
area was clearly rural (Howard 1997:150; Wieder 1986:114). The Broad Street Green,
the primary surviving remnant of the original town commons, was a vacant grass field
with a stream. The Cove was now primarily a place for fishing, ice harvesting, and a
winter recreation mecca for skaters and sleigh riders, but the town had no designated
public parks or gardens (Howard 1997:144-146).

Creation of a Suburban Community

Beginning around 1915, suburban development, spurred by the growth of Hartford,
began to alter the face of Wethersfield. The presence of transportation infrastructure in
the form of railroad and trolley lines, coupled with the short distance involved, made
Wethersfield an appealing prospect for builders of suburban housing, who were now
finding land scarce in Hartford. People could now easily commute from suburbs into
Hartford for work. The first areas to develop into suburban housing were situated close
to the village railroad and trolley stops, as well as along the newer Franklin Avenue
trolley line, which ran between Hartford and Middletown via Wolcott Hill,
Griswoldville and Rocky Hill by 1909. The advent of the automobile by 1920 rapidly
made additional areas of Wethersfield prime territory to be developed. Initial
development was mostly single-family dwellings, although the town’s first apartments
were erected above storefronts in 1916 at Main and Church Streets (Howard 1997:150;
Wieder 1986:115, 118-119).

Street sign representing the boundaries
of Hubbard-designed neighborhoods

Among the first and best-known suburban developers was Albert G. Hubbard, who
moved to Wethersfield as a young man in 1907. Two years later, while employed as a
carpenter in Hartford, he embarked on his first development by purchasing four lots on
Wolcott Hill Road in Wethersfield. He quit his job, constructed and sold his first
houses in the Wolcott Hill area, and continued to build throughout the old part of the
town while raising a family. His high-quality houses, designed in popular revival
styles of the period, featured the modern conveniences, room arrangement, and details
prized by middle-class early-twentieth-century homeowners. The house lots were large
enough for a lawn and backyard garden, but on a suburban scale that was denser than
the existing appearance of Wethersfield. Hubbard and his wife endeavored to know the
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buyers of their homes personally, even as the numbers of homes he built increased into
the hundreds.

By 1933, Hubbard had constructed over 240 new houses and also worked to renovate
and restore older ones. The many houses he built in the historic village area can be
found on Hartford Avenue, Center Street, Garden Street, Church Street, Willard Street,
Belmont Street, Lincoln/Deerfield/Dorchester Roads, Woodland Street, Rosedale
Street, Hubbard Place, and others. Many of the smaller streets are side streets off
historic roadways, and were laid out and subdivided by Hubbard from larger town lot
properties and farms he purchased. The numerous Hubbard houses form a strong
concentration of early development in the village center (Howard 1997:132-133;
Wieder 1986:115-116).

Harrison A. Bosworth, another pioneering developer, also constructed high-quality
houses in the village, but was not as prolific as Hubbard. In 1925, Bosworth bought
land on Hartford Avenue, relocated two existing houses on the property, and began
developing Wilcox Street, Harmund Place, and Avalon Place. Like Hubbard, he built
single-family homes in traditional, tasteful revival styles, but examples of his work are
not as concentrated into a single neighborhood. He too was involved in restoration and
remodeling of older houses, making him and Hubbard part of an early historic
preservation movement in Wethersfield (Wieder 1986:115-116).

The 1920s was a time of fast-moving development and optimism in Wethersfield, as
new houses went up and more people moved in. In 1927, the State of Connecticut
wanted to create an improved highway between Hartford and Middletown, and
proposed placing the Wethersfield sector of the road across the center of the historic
Broad Street Green. Horrified townspeople came together to oppose this proposal and
the selectmen hired Herbert Swan, a New York architect, to prepare an alternative plan
that would spare the Green. In 1928, the Town Plan Commission issued its “Plan of a
Residence Suburb,” indicating that further development into a thriving suburb was
desired, but that key historic resources, such as the Green, should be preserved. The
plan created a modern north-south road that would eventually be known as the Silas
Deane Highway, which effectively routed the proposed state road to the west of the
village and the Green and preserved the village core. With the Green successfully
spared from road development, the town selectmen moved to make it a more functional
and park-like community space by filling in wetlands, cutting the grass, and caring for
the trees, including the towering Great EIm. With a renewed appearance and newfound
appreciation of its history, the Green became once again a center of Wethersfield’s
community events and celebrations, as well as providing recreational space for
residents (WVIA 2001).

Other improvements during the 1920s included the town’s first real firehouse in 1923,
first bank and first sewer system in 1928, and first town engineer and park board in
1929. By this time, several philanthropic, fraternal, and civic organizations had been
formed in town, including the Businessmen’s and Civic Association, the Wethersfield
Women’s Association, the Wethersfield Garden Club, and a Masonic lodge.
Approximately 80 businesses were operating in town in 1928, including a handful of
old-time services like blacksmiths, farriers, dairies, and a coal company (Wieder
1986:118-121).
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The Wethersfield public school system expanded dramatically as suburbanization
continued during the 1920s and early 1930s, and larger student populations, the
diminishing need for students to work on family farms, and higher standards in public
education combined to make the old one-room schoolhouses obsolete. Larger, multi-
classroom school buildings became the new norm in Wethersfield, as in many other
developing suburbs. In 1917, the new Charles Wright School was built for elementary
students, and was followed by a new four-room Griswoldville School in 1922 and the
Francis Stillman School on Hartford Avenue in 1924. A new Georgian Colonial
Revival junior and senior high school opened in 1929 to serve the growing population
of students. In 1930, the old 1893 high school became the Governor Thomas Welles
elementary school, a new Ridge Road elementary school was constructed, and the
relatively new Griswoldville and Charles Wright elementary schools were expanded.
The town’s old one-room schoolhouses, including Northbrick and Broad Street
Schools, were mostly torn down or converted to private residences by this point
(Howard 1997:152-159; Wieder 1986:118-119).

Despite the onset of the Great Depression in the fall of 1929, the town opened the Silas
Deane Highway in 1930. With great fanfare, it celebrated George Washington’s 200"
birthday in 1932 and its own tercentenary in 1934. Monuments and memorial tablets in
honor of the past were placed by different organizations around the village, including
the site of the first meetinghouse. As part of the celebration the Broad Street Green
was marked with plaques identifying the first home lots established by the early
colonists there. In 1932, the Wethersfield Historical Society was founded to preserve
mementos of the past in an organized fashion and collect historical information into a
single repository (Howard 1997:152-159; WVIA 2001). During the 1930s, the town
also began to form recreation programs for residents, which in subsequent decades
would give rise to the establishment of parks and recreation facilities for town residents
(Wieder 1986:123). Wethersfield was inundated by a severe flood in 1936, which
covered three-quarters of the village with water. At least 30 buildings were pushed off
their foundations, and over 250 houses were damaged by the floodwaters, which mixed
with mud from the river and oil from riverfront storage tanks (Howard 1997:156-159).
Further damage occurred two years later during the 1938 Hurricane, which caused
unprecedented destruction throughout New England, but the town rebounded as it had
before (Wieder 1986:122).

Wethersfield, A Residential Community

World War Il brought hard times across the nation, as thousands of citizens went off to
war or joined the defense industry, gasoline and supplies were rationed, and the “home
front” mobilized to support the American effort. Wethersfield endured these
challenges as did countless other American towns. Wartime brought new defense jobs
to Hartford, and new public housing for these workers was constructed in Wethersfield
in 1943. This housing complex, called Westfield Heights, was the town’s first public
housing project and returning veterans were given priority status for its units when
peacetime returned. A second complex, called Highview, was constructed in 1947 to
house additional returning veterans. Both developments were funded by the Federal
Public Housing Authority (Wieder 1986:122-123).

The end of World War 11 and the many rapid changes in the national landscape since
1900 inspired the town of Wethersfield to commission a Master Plan Report from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Completed in 1946, the Master Plan Report
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provided guidance on managing growth and infrastructure as the process of
suburbanization continued. The plan reaffirmed the town’s desire to remain residential,
predicted its population would grow, and expressed the need to retain Wethersfield’s
unique historic character. The planners recommended a number of key goals,
including: management of growth on Silas Deane Highway, creation of a new Town
Center building to bring all the town offices under one roof, improvements to the
town’s well-regarded school system, and obtain additional parkland. Wethersfield
complied with these recommendations as it experienced intense years of continued
growth (Howard 1997:169-173).

Following World War 11, suburban development both nationwide and in Wethersfield
became almost exclusively centered on the automobile, with the result that considerable
new construction was concentrated on Silas Deane Highway. Beginning in the 1940s,
the road was developed from north to south with both residential and commercial areas.
By the 1950s, upon recommendation of the 1946 Master Plan Report, most key town
services left the old town center and were consolidated into a newly constructed facility
on the east side of Wolcott Hill, overlooking Silas Deane Highway, the old village, and
Glastonbury Hills. The new Town Hall and Library opened there in 1958. The town’s
only bank moved to the highway in 1952, and the Wethersfield post office moved there
in 1962. The first shopping center on the highway opened in 1960. Gas stations, small
shopping centers, and other businesses rapidly made Silas Deane Highway the primary
commercial corridor in town, with Berlin Turnpike forming a secondary commercial
strip. In the same period, the town was again confronted with the state’s need for a
better highway system, and the MIT planners recommended that Wethersfield support
construction of the interstate to prevent traffic pressure on Silas Deane Highway.

Interstate 91 was constructed east of the village between 1958 and 1963. The mid-to-
late twentieth century also saw construction of much of the town’s denser apartment
and townhouse dwellings along these arteries or in areas on the edges of town.
Beginning in the 1970s, Wethersfield apartment developments included multiple
complexes of low- and moderate-income housing for senior citizens, as well as
accessible apartments for the disabled built in 1984 (Howard 1997:169-173; Wieder
1986:118-128).

The amount of parkland in town increased from the 1940s onward, with the town
purchasing land in 1944 to create Mill Woods Park. The town controlled 50 acres of
parkland in 1946, which multiplied to 550 acres by 1984. Recreational facilities such
as picnic areas, sports fields, swimming facilities, and a nature center were developed
within the growing park system. The Cove, used as a largely unregulated venue for
townspeople to swim, boat, and skate at the turn of the century, was among the areas
that became public parkland (Wieder 1986:123).

The postwar period brought an unprecedented increase in population, which was seen
in Wethersfield and suburbs nationwide as World War Il and Korean War veterans
returned to peacetime occupations, purchased suburban homes, and started families.
Between 1950 and 1960, Wethersfield experienced a 64% jump in its population. Its
school system, library, and other municipal services were forced to expand to
accommodate the population growth, although the post-baby boom era led to some
school closures in the 1970s-1980s. A number of modern-style schools were
constructed in the 1960s, resulting in demolition of some older school buildings, such
as the former 1929 high school, and adaptive reuse of others (Wieder 1986:124-126).
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In 1963, the State of Connecticut closed the state prison near the Cove and tore the
facility down. A new Department of Motor Vehicles was constructed at the same
location, and the adjacent historic Solomon Welles House, which had served most
recently as the prison warden’s house, was given to the town as a venue for special
events and meetings. A few years earlier, the state had constructed two other facilities
in Wethersfield, including the state Department of Transportation office in 1959 and
the state Labor Department office in 1960 (Wieder 1986:128).

Early Preservation Activity

In the early twentieth century, a number of citizens worked hard to make Wethersfield
attractive and honor its history. John Willard and the Wethersfield Village
Improvement Society turned the group’s attention to historic preservation as a valued
tool for making Wethersfield a pleasant place to live. Jared Standish, an avid
researcher and an accomplished printer and engraver, and his wife Martha worked with
the Wethersfield Village Improvement Society as well. They were instrumental in
urging the town to acquire open land for park space. A talented artist and historian,
Jared Standish also created the 1928 town seal using the old Cove warehouse as the
central icon, researched and wrote history articles, created maps of early landholdings
and schematic sketches of long-vanished buildings, researched and marked 80 historic
houses and buildings in the village, and planned Wethersfield’s 1934 Tercentenary
celebration.

After over a century of existence, the Wethersfield Village Improvement Association
still contributes to the town’s overall appearance and appeal. Since the 1950s, the
group has planted and cared for shade trees, restored street signs, and spearheaded
landscaping plans for community benefit (Howard 1997:134-135 ; WVIA [2006]).

Historic preservation efforts in Wethersfield have been a prevailing theme in the town
since the early twentieth century. The Joseph Webb House on Main Street became an
early preservation effort of a group of local citizens, who feared it would be turned into
apartments and wished to create a library and historical site. The group sold the
property to Wallace Nutting, a prolific photographer, collector, and promoter of
“colonial” Americana, who acquired and restored a number of historic New England
houses and used them as sets for his popular nostalgic photography. Nutting purchased
the house in early 1916 and hired architect Henry Charles Dana to help him restore it to
his idea of the eighteenth century. It was opened for tours later in the year, making it
Wethersfield’s first museum house, and was also a backdrop for his hand-colored
photographs of staged domestic scenes.

. Lt | Webb-Deane-Stevens Museum is a
preservation success story in the
Old Wethersfield Historic District
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Nutting’s work was very much intertwined with the nationwide popularity of the
Colonial Revival in architecture, furnishings, literature, and decorative arts. World
War | caused a sharp decline in visitors and Nutting closed the house in November
1918. A year later, he sold it to the National Society of Colonial Dames of America in
Connecticut, which reopened it as the Webb-Washington House Museum and installed
a tearoom inside. In 1924, they performed their own restoration, reversing or removing
much of what Nutting had done. The Colonial Dames later purchased the Isaac
Stevens House in 1958 and inherited the Silas Deane House in 1959, giving it a row of
three contiguous eighteenth-century properties. The Webb House is now the
centerpiece of the Webb-Deane-Stevens Museum (Howard 1997:147-149).

Meanwhile, the Connecticut Antiquarian and Landmarks Society Connecticut
Landmarks) obtained the Buttolph-Williams House in 1947 and restored it to its early
appearance. This house was used as the setting for Elizabeth George Speare’s award-
winning young adult novel, The Witch of Blackbird Pond, a fictional portrait of the
harsh realities and witchcraft hysteria of seventeenth-century Puritan life in
Wethersfield.

During this time, Wethersfield Historical Society also assumed stewardship of a
number of Town-owned and privately-owned historic buildings. Beginning with the
Old Academy (1804) in 1959, by 1986 the society was responsible for the preservation
of six historic buildings, including the Cove Warehouse, Deming-Standish House
(1787), Keeney Memorial Cultural Center (former Governor Thomas Welles School,
1893), as well as the Captain James Francis House (1793) and Hurlburt-Dunham
House, bequeathed to the society in 1969 and 1970 respectively. The society led
restoration projects for each of these buildings, resulting in the opening of the Francis
and Hurlbut-Dunham Houses as historic museums; the adaptive re-use of the Deming-
Standish House as a public restaurant/tavern; the Keeney Memorial Cultural Center as
the Town’s Visitor Center and Cultural Center; and the Old Academy as a museum and
later as the society’s research library and offices.

The historic First Church also embarked upon a $1.1 million project to restore the old
meetinghouse to its 1764 appearance. This work, which occurred between 1970 and
1973, included razing the deteriorating 1872 Chapel and removing some of the main
building’s nineteenth-century alterations, such as stained glass windows, that were felt
to be out of character (Howard 1997:147-149, 173; Wieder 1986:155-160).

A key development in historic preservation was the establishment of the Wethersfield
Historic District in 1962, which has carefully protected the evidence of over three
centuries of town history. The district was Connecticut’s first, and remains its largest,
with over 110 buildings constructed before 1840. In 1968, the Great Meadows Trust
was established to protect the remains of the Meadows and serve as a buffer for the
historic district. The town celebrated its 350" anniversary in 1984 and has made great
strides in recent years to promote heritage tourism (Howard 1997:173-174).
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CHAPTER 3: COMMUNITY CHARACTER

Wetherstield Today

The Old Wethersfield Historic District does not sit in isolation; its chance for success as
a residential community, business district, and heritage tourism destination are based
largely on its location and context within the greater region.

Old Wethersfield is an authentic community with an eclectic mix of housing and
commercial structures representing four centuries of Town development and historic
sites and museums where history comes alive for the visitor. The buildings, landscapes,
and other site features are all visible remnants of the community’s heritage and
represent the historical significance of Old Wethersfield. These physical characteristics,
the ones that can be seen and experienced, together with the people, help to define and
create a distinctive community character that is recognizable immediately upon arriving
in the historic district.

Chapter 3 looks at the existing physical conditions within the historic district and
summarizes the key resources, circulation attributes, and land use patterns that have
defined the community, both today and in the past. Understanding what exists today
provides a basic framework for recognizing areas that might be in need of change or
improvement. The existing conditions defined below serve as the basis for the
recommendations and options presented in subsequent sections of this report.

Regional Context

The Town of Wethersfield is located in central Connecticut, approximately five miles
south of the state capital of Hartford in Hartford County. Wethersfield is easily accessed
by a number of major roadways including 1-91, Route 99, Route 3, and Routes 5/15.
Interstate 84 is only minutes away by car. The total land area of the town is 12.39
square miles.

Wethersfield is under a two-hour drive from major northeast cities including Boston,
Massachusetts, Providence, Rhode Island, and New York, New York. Montreal,
Quebec, Canada is the closet major Canadian city, located approximately 270 miles
from Wethersfield. The closest major airport, Bradley International Airport, is sixteen
miles away.

The Old Wethersfield Historic District is central to a number of regional historic sites
and attractions, creating opportunities for regional marketing and promotion. Each of
the following attractions is under two hours from Wethersfield:

Goodspeed Opera House (30 minutes)
Ivoryton Playhouse (35 minutes)

Old Sturbridge Village (45 minutes)

Historic Deerfield (50 minutes)

Mystic Seaport (50 minutes)

Pittsfield Hancock Shaker Village (70 minutes)
Newport Preservation Society (90 minutes)
Plimouth Plantation (90 minutes)

Page 31

July 2008 John Milner Associates, Inc.



Old Wethersfield Master Plan

e Salem Essex Peabody Museum (110 minutes)

The People of Wethersfield

According to 2000 Census data, the population of Wethersfield is approximately 26,271
persons — only slightly higher than the 1980 population of 26,008 persons. The median
age of the population is 44.1, with over sixty percent of residents over the age of 35.
Females outnumber males in the Town by 1,887 persons. Ninety three percent of
Wethersfield residents are white, two percent are African American, and the remaining
five percent are other races, such as Asian or Pacific Islander. The average household
size is 2.31 persons and the average family size is 2.89 persons. More than half of the
population (58%) is currently married.

In 2000, there were 11,214 occupied housing units within the Town, of which 77.9%, Or
8,733 units, were owner occupied. The remaining housing units were renter occupied.
Only 240 housing units were identified as vacant. More than half of the units (6,115)
were constructed between 1940 and 1969. Almost 2,000 homes date to pre-1936. The
median value of owner occupied housing units in the Town is $159,300. Of those
members of the population over age 25, 33% have a bachelors degree or higher and
39% have an associates degree or higher. Approximately 16% of the population over
age 25 has not received a high school diploma.

The Historic District

The OIld Wethersfield Historic District is Connecticut’s oldest and largest historic
district, covering over two square miles and including over 1200 buildings. The
buildings represent each of the primary building styles from each period of architectural
significance from the past four centuries. Within the district are hundreds of historic
residences, museums and historic sites, and a small commercial core consisting of retail
establishments, restaurants, and service and office uses. The community is devoted to
preserving its authentic heritage.

Historic Attributes

Every resident of the historic district seems to live there for a reason — the charm, the
ambiance, and the small-town feel that make it an attractive and warm community to
live in. While the residents and people within the district certainly contribute to the
appeal, there are specific physical traits of the community that contribute to its overall
character, such as the residential neighborhoods, the village center, roadways, and
natural resources and open space.

Residential Neighborhoods

Like the Town as a whole, the historic district is primarily a residential community. The
residential neighborhoods in the Old Wethersfield Historic District includes four
centuries of architectural evolution within the Town, resulting in an architectural
aesthetic that can best be described as a balanced diversity. While the building stock
spans more than 300 years and includes dozens of architectural styles and trends, there
is a consistency among the buildings that results in a feeling of harmony. The entire
Town takes great pride in its architectural heritage, and rightfully so.
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The expansion of the local mercantile industry resulted in the development of a
substantial number of new houses in Old Wethersfield in the eighteenth century. Extant
residential homes dating to this period reflect the overarching design principles of the
time with a focus on simplicity, balance, and proportion. Remnants of nineteenth
century farms are still visible along the Broad Street Green, with two active farms still
in their historic locations. Residential construction in this century resulted in a more
diverse architectural vocabulary than is visible from the eighteenth century. A greater
number of architectural details and adornments were common and are still visible on
the extant houses that remain from this period, many of which flank the Green.
Balconies, dormer windows, intricate porches, and towers are examples of the
architectural details which adorn many residential buildings from this period.

Residential homes in Old Wethersfield include over 300 years of architectural development

Twentieth century residential development in the Town and historic district can be
categorized by the suburban expansion of Hartford. The most notable developments
occurring within the historic district during this century are attributable to Albert
Hubbard who constructed homes in the historic district beginning in 1916. Hubbard is
recognized for creating one of the first suburban housing developments in the country.

Hubbard developed residences within Old Wethersfield in three distinct phases which
reflected the needs and desires of residents. His earliest homes were on long, narrow
lots reminiscent of an urban style setting that was similar to development in Hartford.
Bungalow styled homes on streets with no street trees followed. His final developments
responded to residents’ desire for a more traditional suburban setting. These homes
were constructed on larger lots, had greater setbacks, and were located on wider streets.
Albert Hubbard ultimately constructed 240 homes on 14 streets within the historic
district. Today, these streets are identified by special street identification signage which
includes a profile of the prototype Hubbard house. Hubbard created and placed these
signs in the Town around 1926 in order to create a neighborhood identity; missing signs
were replaced and remaining signs were restored in the 1990s by the Wethersfield
Village Improvement Association.

The Village Center

In a broad sense, the historic Village Center of Old Wethersfield and current Village
Center are one in the same. In the seventeenth century, Meetinghouse Square was on
the site of the extant First Church, with the Old Town Flagpole in the center of the
square. The square was the focus of most town events. While the square no longer
exists, the Church tower is still a highly visible focal point and is at the center of the
more dispersed two-block center that defines Old Wethersfield today. The two-blocks
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of the Village Center includes buildings, structures, and plaques from a number of
significant periods in the Towns development.

The small, pedestrian scale of the community has been retained in the Village Center,
with no buildings exceeding three stories in height, noting the First Church as an
exception. The commercial and office-related uses which now comprise the majority of
the village center are housed in historically significant structures, many of which were
once single-family residences. Some twentieth century commercial buildings with
multiple storefronts are incorporated into the historic streetscape. Mature trees along
Main Street and throughout the Historic District create a lush canopy that contributes to
the community’s strong appeal.

View of Main Street south
from the intersection of
Church and Main

Roadways

The location and character of the district’s historic roadways have been largely
preserved and have been additive over time, with each period of the district’s
development adding new elements. Although roads are now paved that were once
unpaved, the expansive width of main roadways, such as Main Street (historically High
Street) remain intact, as do the historic street patterns and building setbacks. Roads
such as Hartford, High, and Broad Street date to the seventeenth century and were the
earliest roads used to connect local farmers with markets beyond Wethersfield’s
boundaries.

Main Street is a wide, heavily traveled
roadway in the Historic District

The intersection of Main Street and Marsh Street has always served as an important
location in the center of the village, appearing on maps dating to the seventeenth
century. Once a three-way intersection, modifications to the historic condition were
altered with the construction of Church Street to the west in 1871, when the railroad
depot was opened. Other significant roadways, such as Broad Street, have also been
largely unaltered. Hartford Way (now Hartford Avenue) was the primary roadway
linking Wethersfield to the City of Hartford. While still an important link, a substantial
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amount of traffic was re-routed from Hartford Avenue when the Silas Deane Highway
was constructed in the 1930s.

State Street, historically known first as Fort Street and then as Prison Street due to the
location of the State Prison from 1827-1963, is still an important connector between
Main Street and Hartford Avenue. Although the prison is no longer standing the site
remains owned and used by the state, today serving as the Department of Motor
Vehicles. Archaeological remnants of the historic prison and outlying service buildings
still exist on the si